RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Apr 20, 2016, 3:28 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICA

NOO3333 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

73637.0.1

KITSAP COUNTY CORRECTIONAL OFFICERS' GUILD

Respondents,

VS.

KITSAP COUNTY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

TINA R. ROBINSON
Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney
JACQUELYN M. AUFDERHEIDE, WSBA No. 17374
DEBORAH A. BOE, WSBA No. 39365
Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys
614 Division Street, MS-35A
Port Orchard, WA 98366-4676
(360) 337-4992

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Kitsap County and the Kitsap County Sheriff request review of the Court of Appeals decisions designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review, *Kitsap County v. Kitsap County Correctional Officers' Guild*, No. 73637-0-I, published at 2016 WL 1090154, and Part II of the earlier decision in this matter, *Kitsap County v. Kitsap County Correctional Officers' Guild*, No. 44183-7-II, published at 149 Wn.App. 987 (2014), concerning waiver. Copies of both decisions are in the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Does the Division I opinion, that a decision to balance the budget by laying off employees must be bargained with the union, conflict with U.S. Supreme Court precedent that an employer is not required to collectively bargain an economically motivated decision to reduce operations and staff, where the County, in the performance of its legislative authority and statutory duties, reduced the budget and staffing levels because of declining revenues and increased costs?
- B. Does the Division I opinion conflict with this Court's precedent that a union has no right to demand that a public agency's budget decisions be

¹ The 2016 Court of Appeals Division I opinion is in Appendix A, and the 2014 Court of Appeals Division II opinion is in Appendix B.

collectively bargained?

C. Does the Division I opinion interfere with the County's nondelegable legislative budget authority, and create an irreconcilable conflict between the County's statutory budget and statutory collective bargaining duties?

D. Are the Division I and II opinions in direct conflict where Division II held that layoff provisions in the parties' collective bargaining agreement (CBA) and civil service rules constitute a waiver and a permissive subject of bargaining that expires with the CBA, but Division I held that the layoff provisions are a mandatory subject of bargaining?

IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Procedural History

On December 21, 2011, Kitsap County filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment in Mason County Superior Court seeking a declaratory ruling whether the County's decision to reduce the jail budget, operations, and staffing levels is a mandatory subject of bargaining.² If the budget decision was not a mandatory subject of bargaining, the County was required to bargain only the impacts of the decision. If the budget decision was a mandatory subject of bargaining, then the County could not reduce the jail budget unless the Guild agreed, either directly or through an agreement imposed by an interest arbitrator.³

² CP 767-773.

³ CP 1340.

The Correctional Officers Guild (Guild) answered and filed a counterclaim requesting declaratory relief.⁴ On October 11, 2012, the superior court granted the County's Motion for Declaratory Judgment, ruling the layoffs resulted from a reduction in budget and operations and were not mandatory subjects of bargaining.^{5,6}

The Guild appealed the superior court's ruling to the Court of Appeals. Division II remanded the case back to the superior court to conduct a balancing test on the record. Division II also held that terms in the parties' CBA to utilize civil service rules in layoffs was a waiver which expired with the CBA.

On remand, the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC) intervened as a party. ¹⁰ The superior court again reviewed the entire record, conducted a detailed balancing test, and again determined that the County did not have a mandatory duty to bargain the decision to reduce the budget, reduce staffing levels, or the resulting layoffs of employees. ¹¹

PERC and the Guild appealed the superior court's decision.¹² The second appeal was transferred to Division I, which reversed the superior

⁴ CP 753-766.

⁵ October 11, 2012 Transcript of Proceedings, p. 7 (CP 263-264).

⁶ CP 1010-1012.

⁷ CP 269.

⁸ Appendix B, p.10

⁹ Id. at 7.

¹⁰ CP 162-163.

¹¹ CP 27-33.

¹² CP 5-7, 15-17.

court holding that balancing the budget by laying off employees is a mandatory subject of bargaining.¹³

B. Factual History

While the superior court's findings of fact are not disputed, the balancing test used by the courts to determine whether layoffs are a mandatory subject of bargaining is a fact specific analysis. Thus, consideration of the facts resulting in the layoffs at issue here is necessary.

1. County Legislative Authority and Statutory Budget Obligations.

Chapter 36.40 RCW prescribes the process for establishing annual County budgets. Each July, the County's chief financial officer issues notice to each County officer to submit estimates of revenues and expenditures for preparation of a preliminary budget. ¹⁴ Public meetings on the preliminary budget are held each fall, and at a hearing on the first Monday each December the Board adopts a budget fixing each item in detail. ¹⁵ The adopted budget constitutes the appropriations for the ensuing year, and County officials are limited to the expenditures and liabilities as fixed by the Board. ¹⁶

2. The Recession.

In 2008, the midst of the recession, revenues were less than budgeted

¹³ Appendix A, p. 21.

¹⁴ CP 1278-1279; see also 1130-1135; and see RCW 36.40.010.

¹⁵ CP 1280-1283. See also RCW 36.40.040-.080.

¹⁶ See also RCW 36.40.100.

by more than \$2 million, requiring the Board to make mid-year cuts to meet anticipated deficits. Then, just four months after it went into effect, the Board had to amend its 2009 budget, reducing expenditures by more than \$4.2 million. In 2010, the Board reduced the budget by another \$5.7 million. Between 2008 and 2011, 68 employees were laid off. 17

On February 22, 2011, in a memorandum to all employees, the Board reported on the sad state of the County's finances:

... As we enter 2011, we are without enough resources to maintain the status quo and we cannot afford the service levels our citizens have come to expect. Since 2008, we have unfunded and eliminated approximately 150 positions, and reduced the hours for an additional 183... This means that every budget cycle from now on will require cuts because our on-going revenue growth can never keep up with our growth for on-going expenses...¹⁸

The Board's budgetary decisions were focused on the economic viability of the County. ¹⁹ While the elimination of positions and resulting layoffs had a direct impact on employment, no evidence was presented that the Board's decisions concerned exclusively an aspect of the employment relationship or were motivated by anti-union animus.

3. Budget Appropriations for the Kitsap County Jail.

By law, the County's annual budget must include appropriations for a jail for confining prisoners.²⁰ Kitsap County's jail is operated and

¹⁷ CP 1182, 1214, 1223, 1239.

¹⁸ CP 1151-1154

¹⁹ CP 1180-1182.

²⁰ RCW 2.28.139 (county "shall furnish a jail or suitable place for confining prisoners").

supervised by the Sheriff. About 37 percent of the County's general fund funds the Sheriff's operating costs, 15 percent of which funds the jail.²¹ As a consequence of declining revenues, in 2010 four correctional officer positions were eliminated and the officers laid off. The *impacts* of these layoffs were negotiated with the Guild,²² consistent with the longstanding civil service rules.²³

In 2011 the County's overall budget was cut another \$2 million, but the jail was able to offset some of the cuts it would have faced due to a \$1 million revenue contract with South Correctional Entity (SCORE).²⁴

During collective bargaining, the Guild and the County had numerous discussions about the likelihood of staff reductions when the SCORE contract terminated in the fall of 2011. In fact, officers were encouraged to apply to SCORE. One officer who would have been laid off was hired.²⁵

For budget year 2012, the jail projected a reduction of more than \$935,000 in revenue. Loss of revenue from the SCORE contract, declining revenue for housing inmates from the Washington Department of Corrections, continuing increases in inmate food services and health care costs, and the costs associated with unfunded mandates for DUI and

²¹ CP 1330.

²² Id.

²³ CP 1164.

²⁴ CP 1330.

²⁵ CP 1330-1331.

DWLS enhanced sentences, sex offender registration, and DNA sample collections. Consequently, in late October 2011, the County's correctional officers were notified that the 2012 budget would result in the reduction of jail operations and positions.²⁶

4. Notice of Decisions to Reduce the Jail's Budget and the Guild's Demand to Bargain.

Throughout 2011, the Guild and jail employees were well aware of the state of the County's overall budget, the pending loss of the SCORE contract, and anticipated reductions in the jail's budget. Public hearings on the 2012 budget were advertised, the budget was debated in public meetings, and the Guild and County discussed the County's and jail's finances during collective bargaining.²⁷

In addition to the notice sent by the Board to all employees in February 2011, notice about reductions in the jail's budget was delivered to each employee on October 24, 2011, when Chief Newlin sent an email describing the basis for the Board's reduction of the Sheriff's budget:

We defunded four (4) open deputy positions, cut approximately \$400,000 in fleet expenses, along with approximately another \$100,000 for line items, defunded two (2) open corrections officer positions, .75 FTE of jail maintenance staff, and eliminated the Community Service Work Contract (alternative) with Kitsap Community Resources, which saved an additional \$70,000. We made these cuts understanding the bleak budget picture for the county general fund.

²⁶ CP 1331.

²⁷ Id.

Even with these significant cuts, the bottom line is that the Sheriff's Office (including the jail) is now directed to take an additional \$513,000 cut from our budget requests for 2012. This is a significant reduction and one with significant impacts. In putting together a package of reductions for the Sheriff's Office these past few days, the Executive Staff was able to come up with enough savings to substantially reduce the number of additional staff positions lost in 2012. We were able to do this by further cuts to supplies and services through the Sheriff's Office (including the jail). Even with these additional cuts, the unfortunate reality is that this magnitude of cut will require the loss of three (3) additional positions in the jail.

This is not a decision that was made lightly and it causes me great angst to do so, but there is no other reasonable alternative to us. We will attempt to mitigate the impact by offering voluntary RIF opportunities similar to what we did in late 2008. . . ²⁸

The day after the above letter was sent, and less than six weeks before the Board was statutorily mandated to adopt a budget,²⁹ the County received a demand from the Guild to "bargain the decision to conduct any layoffs plus any associated effects/impacts."³⁰ Responding to the demand, the County agreed to bargain the impacts of the layoffs as it had done in the past and cited to language in the CBA and civil service rules.³¹ At no time during 2011 did the Guild offer economic concessions or even suggest them as a possibility. Instead the Guild argued it had the right to negotiate the Board's decision to reduce the jail's budget.³²

²⁸ CP 1335-1336.

²⁹ RCW 36.40.080.

³⁰ CP 1338.

³¹ CP 1325.

³² CP 1326-1328.

5. Collective Bargaining, Civil Service Rules, and Waiver.

The Guild and County were parties to a CBA which expired in 2009.³³ The parties engaged in negotiations for a successor contract, but were unsuccessful in reaching an agreement. Under the duty to maintain the status quo, the County looked to the expired CBA for addressing issues pertaining to layoffs, ³⁴ which are as follows:³⁵

1. Article I, Section I - Management Rights

It is expressly recognized that such [management] rights, powers, authority and functions include, but are by no means whatever limited to . . . the right to establish, change, combine or eliminate jobs, positions, job classifications and descriptions . . . the number of employees.

2. Article J, Section I – Relationship to Civil Service Rules
Except as expressly limited by its terms, nothing in this Agreement
shall supersede any matter delegated to the Kitsap County Civil
Service Commission by State law or by ordinance, resolution or laws
of or pertaining to the County of Kitsap and such Commission shall
continue to have primary authority over subjects within the scope of its
jurisdiction and authority. If there then should be a conflict between
any provisions of this Agreement and Civil Service, then the
provisions of this Agreement shall govern.

Also relevant to issues presented here are the Kitsap County Civil Service Rules. In 1994, the Kitsap County Civil Service Commission established the following rules for layoff:³⁶

Section 10.3.01 The Appointing Authority may lay off any employee in the Classified Service whenever such action is made necessary by

³³ CP 1156.

³⁴ RCW 41.56.470.

³⁵ CP 1158.

³⁶ CP 1163-1164.

reason of a shortage of work or funds, the abolition of a position because of changes in organization or other reasons outside the employee's control which do not reflect discredit on the services of the employee; however, no regular or probationary employee shall be laid off while there are provisional employees serving in the same class of position for which the regular or probationary employee is eligible and available.

Section 10.3.02 Layoff of probationary or regular employees shall be made in inverse order of seniority in the class involved. . .³⁷

The County reasoned that, with the above-cited provisions in the CBA, civil service rules, and past practice, it did not have a mandatory duty to bargain the decision to layoff corrections officers.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division I's opinion conflicts with decisions of the U.S. and Washington State Supreme Courts, interferes with the County's nondelegable legislative authority, and creates an irreconcilable conflict between the County's statutory budget and collective bargaining duties. Division I and II's opinions are in direct conflict with one another, with one holding that layoff provisions in the parties' CBA and civil service rules constitute a waiver that expires with the CBA, and thus is a permissive subject of bargaining, and the other holding that the layoff provisions are a mandatory subject of bargaining.

Division I's opinion also creates confusion for public employers by

³⁷ In February 2010, the Civil Service Commission amended Civil Service Rule 10.3.03 so that laid off employees would remain on the reinstatement list for two years instead of one. The language in the CBA applicable to layoffs did not change. CP 1179-1280.

deciding these important issues based on semantics instead of considering the reasons for layoffs. Division I acknowledged that if the Guild had asked to bargain "staffing levels" instead of "layoffs," the County would not have to bargain.³⁸

The issues presented here are of great importance, and should not be reduced to mere semantics.³⁹ This Court has not addressed public agency decisions to lay off employees and the collective bargaining process since its decision in *Spokane Educ. Assoc. v. Barnes*,⁴⁰ and public employers, employees, unions, and PERC need clear guidelines concerning the duty to bargain collectively.⁴¹

A. Division I Opinion Conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court Precedent.

Two U.S. Supreme Court cases, *Fibreboard* and *First Nat'l*, exemplify the importance of considering the reasons for layoffs. ⁴² In

³⁸ Appendix A, pp. 11-12. The COA decision illogically holds that a County can lay off employees as a matter of policy and/or staff reduction and not bargain, but if the County must layoff to balance the budget that must be bargained.

³⁹ In First Nat'l Maintenance v. NLRB, 452 U.S. 666, 670 (1981), employees were terminated when the employer discontinued operations, in Spokane Educ. Assoc. v. Barnes, 83 Wn.2d 366, 367 (1974), teachers' contracts were not renewed pursuant to a budget reduction adopted by the school district, and here, the layoffs occurred pursuant to a budget reduction adopted by the County. In all three cases, employees lost their jobs due to eliminated or reduced operations and/or staffing levels.

⁴⁰ Spokane Educ. Assoc., 83 Wn.2d 366 (1974). This Court's decision in *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. PERC*, 113 Wn.2d 197, 205 (1989), did not directly address layoffs, but it recognized that "[t]he law is clear that general staffing levels are fundamental prerogatives of management."

⁴¹ "[T]he delicate task of accommodating the diverse public, employer and union interests at stake in public employment relations . . ." was recognized by this Court in *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. PERC*, 113 Wn.2d at 203.

⁴² Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 218 (1964); First Nat'l Maintenance v. NLRB, 452 U.S. 666 (1981).

Fibreboard, the Court held that layoffs due to contracting out work to non-union workers are a mandatory subject of bargaining. Justice Stewart cautioned, however, that "[t]he Court most assuredly does not decide that every managerial decision which necessarily terminates an individual's employment is subject to the duty to bargain."⁴³ The Fibreboard Court emphasized that every case must be considered on its own facts.⁴⁴

Seventeen years after *Fibreboard*, the U.S. Supreme Court engaged in a more nuanced balancing test to determine whether the decision to terminate part of a business operation was a mandatory subject of bargaining. ⁴⁵ In *First Nat'l*, the Court stated:

[I]n view of an employer's need for unencumbered decision making, bargaining over management decisions that have a substantial impact on the continued availability of employment should be required only if the benefit, for labor-management relations and the collective bargaining process, outweighs the burden placed on the conduct of the business. 46

The First Nat'l Court held that "an economically motivated decision to shut down part of a business" did not benefit the collective bargaining process and would burden the employer if ordered to bargain.⁴⁷

The present case is similar to the *First Nat'l* line of cases for the reason that, unlike the *Fibreboard* case, contracting out work did not

⁴³ Fibreboard, 379 U.S. at 318.

⁴⁴ Id.

⁴⁵ First Nat'l, 452 U.S. at 679.

⁴⁶ Id

⁴⁷ Id. at 680 (quoting Fibreboard, 379 U.S. at 213).

occur here. County corrections officer positions were not replaced with outside labor.

The Court of Appeals distinguishes the present case from *First Nat'l* because the County did not shut down part of its operation due to the loss of the SCORE contract. But the reasoning in *First Nat'l* applies as equally to reductions in operations as to elimination of operations. The revenue from the SCORE contract served to increase the scope of jail operations and funding for positions, but with the loss of that contract and revenue, the Board decided that operations and positions had to be reduced.

B. The Division I Opinion Conflicts with this Court's Precedent that Unions have No Right to Demand to Bargain the Elimination of Positions Due to Budget Reductions.

The Fibreboard and First Nat'l cases concerned private entities. A public agency's legislative authority and statutory duties add other issues to consider when determining whether layoffs resulting from budget decisions are mandatory subjects of bargaining.

In Spokane Educ. Assoc. v. Barnes, the Washington State Supreme
Court recognized the insurmountable burden to a public agency of
bargaining budget allocations resulting in layoffs with a union. 48 The
Court held that the union had no right to bargain the budget allocation of
the school district resulting in the layoff of 214 staff:

⁴⁸ Spokane Education Ass'n v. Barnes, 83 Wn.2d 366, 377 (1974).

It is obvious that they cannot be expected to negotiate for an unreasonable length of time or to delay decisions which must be made before statutory or other relevant deadlines. It is the board of directors upon which the duty is imposed by statute to make decisions in managing the affairs of the district and in each case the final decision rests with the board.⁴⁹

Division I distinguished *Spokane* by reasoning that because the union in that case did not make a timely demand to bargain, the school district did not have to bargain the layoffs. However, the Court in *Spokane* also held that the school district was not obligated to bargain the allocation of the budget which resulted in layoffs. The *Spokane* Court did not allow semantics to confuse the issue. The Court properly focused on the reasons for the layoffs and concluded that budget allocations are not amenable to bargaining, whether or not the budget is a "policy."

Courts in other states have considered the burden of bargaining the decision to lay off employees due to a budget crisis and concluded that the burden to a public agency is "intolerable," that it would "significantly interfere with the determination of government policy," and that it "severely restricts the city in its ability to function."⁵²

⁴⁹ Id. at 377.

⁵⁰ Id. at 376.

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