RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 20, 2016, 4:14 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93033-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY and KITSAP COUNTY SHERIFF,

Appellants,

v.

KITSAP COUNTY CORRECTIONAL OFFICERS' GUILD and PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARK S. LYON
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #12169
PO Box 40113
7141 Cleanwater Drive SW
Olympia, WA 98504-0113
(360) 753-6238
OID No. 91028
Attorneys for Respondent Public
Employment Relations Commission

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
	A.	De	mand to Bargain and Layoffs	3	
	B.	Fir	st Appeal (Kitsap I)	5	
	C.	Re	mand and Second Appeal (Kitsap II)	6	
III.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED				
	A.	The Court of Appeals Holding That These Jail Layoffs— Taken to Reduce Labor Costs—Are Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining Does Not Conflict With Established Washington Labor Law		7	
		1.	The Court of Appeals applied the multifactor balancing test endorsed by the Washington Supreme Court in resolving this case.	8	
		2.	The decision of the Court of Appeals that the County jail layoffs are mandatory subjects of bargaining is consistent with federal case law.	10	
		3.	The decision of the Court of Appeals that the County jail layoffs are mandatory subjects of bargaining is consistent with PERC case law.	13	
		4.	The decisions of the Court of Appeals do not conflict with decisions of the Washington Supreme Court because the Guild did not seek to bargain the allocation of the County budget.	14	
	B.	S. There Is No Unresolved Conflict Between the County's Statutory Budget Process and the Duty to Bargain Requiring Review			

	C.	Kitsap County Failed to Appeal or Preserve the Waiver Issues and this Court Should Decline the Belated Efforts		
		to Revive Them	18	
IV.	CO	NCLUSION	20	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

City of Spokane v. Spokane Police Guild 87 Wn.2d 457, 553 P.2d 1316 (1976)
Contemporary Cars, Inc. v. N.L.R.B. 814 F.3d 859 (7th Cir. 2016)
Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. N.L.R.B. 379 U.S. 203, 85 S. Ct. 398, 13 L. Ed. 2d 233 (1964)
First Nat'l Maint. Corp. v. N.L.R.B. 452 U.S. 666, 101 S. Ct. 2573, 69 L. Ed. 2d 318 (1981) 10, 11
Folsom v. Cty. of Spokane 111 Wn.2d 256, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988)
Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n 113 Wn.2d 197, 778 P.2d 32 (1989)
Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc. 179 Wn. App. 987, 320 P.3d 70 (2014)passim
Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc. 193 Wn. App. 40, P.3d (2016)
N.L.R.B. v. 1199, Nat. Union of Hosp. & Health Care Emp., AFL- CIO 824 F.2d 318 (4th Cir. 1987)
N.L.R.B. v. Advertisers Mfg. Co. 823 F.2d 1086 (7th Cir. 1987)
Nucleonics All., Local Union No. 1-369, Oil, Chem. & Atomic Workers Int'l Union, AFL-CIO v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys. (WPPSS) 101 Wn.2d 24, 677 P.2d 108 (1984)

Pan Am. Grain Co., Inc. v. N.L.R.B. 558 F.3d 22 (1st Cir. 2009)11, 13
Roberson v. Perez 156 Wn.2d 33, 123 P.3d 844 (2005)
Rose v. Erickson 106 Wn.2d 420, 721 P.2d 969 (1986)
Spokane Educ. Ass'n v. Barnes 83 Wn.2d 366, 517 P.2d 1362 (1974)
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 36.40
RCW 36.40.010080
RCW 41.56
RCW 41.56.030(4) 8
RCW 41.56.905
RCW 53.18.015
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
RAP 2.5(a)
RAP 2.5(c)(2)

The central issue in this case is whether Petitioner Kitsap County (County) must bargain with the Kitsap County Correctional Officers' Guild (Guild) over the layoffs of two jail employees undertaken to reduce labor costs. After two reviews by the Court of Appeals, the matter is properly resolved and does not warrant review by this Court.

The Court of Appeals held that the layoff decision was a mandatory subject of bargaining under the Public Employment Collective Bargaining Act (PECBA), RCW 41.56, as follows:

The subject of the demand to bargain was the layoff decision, not the budget. Adopting a budget is a management prerogative. But when a public sector employer proposes to balance the budget by laying off workers who are represented by a union, the union must have the opportunity to bargain over whether the cost saving can be achieved by other means.

Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc., 193 Wn. App. 40, ¶ 1, __ P.3d __ (2016) (Kitsap II). The court also rejected belated claims that the Guild waived its right to bargain the layoffs, finding these issues were previously resolved in an earlier appeal in this case and unsupported

¹ In this Answer, the decision of Division II in the first appeal will be referred to as Kitsap I. Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc., 179 Wn. App. 987, 320 P.3d 70 (2014) (Kitsap I). The decision of Division I in the second appeal will be referenced as Kitsap II. Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc., 193 Wn. App. 40, ___ P.3d ___ (2016) (Kitsap II).

The decision in Kitsap II has been reported in Westlaw, but has not yet been published in the Washington Reports. Citation to the Division I opinion will thus be made to the pinpoint paragraph number rather that the slip opinion "star page" number, for example Kitsap II, at \P 1. A copy of the Westlaw opinion showing paragraph numbers is attached as Exhibit A.

by the record. *Id.* at ¶ 13. These waiver issues were resolved in the first appeal and not appealed. *See Kitsap Cty. v. Kitsap Cty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 987, 320 P.3d 70 (2014) (*Kitsap* I).

These holdings present no issue that warrants this Court's review. Petitioners fail to support their assertions that the recent appellate decision is in conflict with the prior decisions of this Court or federal precedent, creates an irreconcilable statutory conflict presenting a substantial public issue, or presents any conflict among the divisions of the courts of appeal. In addition, the County's effort to revive its waiver arguments rejected in *Kitsap* I are untimely. The Petition for Review should be denied.

I. ISSUES

- 1. Does the Kitsap II holding—that layoffs to reduce labor costs, as opposed to changes in the scope or nature of employer operations, are mandatory subjects of bargaining—conflict with the decisions of the Washington State Supreme Court?
- 2. Did the Guild's demand to bargain jail layoffs undertaken to reduce labor costs amount to a demand to bargain the County budget?
- 3. Is there a current substantial conflict between the duty to bargain layoffs under PECBA and the County budget statutes requiring resolution by the Washington State Supreme Court?

4. Are the County's waiver arguments rejected in *Kitsap* I and affirmed in *Kitsap* II appropriate for review under the law of the case doctrine?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action arises from Kitsap County's decision to layoff two correctional officers to reduce labor costs. The officers' union (Guild), demanded to bargain the decision to layoff the officers. The County agreed to bargain the effects of the layoffs, but not the decision.

A. Demand to Bargain and Layoffs

Kitsap County's jail is operated by the Kitsap County Sheriff, an independently elected county officer. CP 394, 598. The Sheriff's Office is divided into a number of divisions, including the Corrections Division which operates the jail. CP 597. In 2011, the jail employed approximately 74 officers, nine sergeants and two lieutenants. *Id.* Ned Newlin is Chief of Corrections.

The size of the Sheriff Office's budget is determined through the annual County budgeting process. The timing and steps of this process is generally set out in statute RCW 36.40.010-.080. For the 2012 budget, the process was initiated in July 2011 (CP 389, 398), followed by the submission of the proposed Sheriff's budget (including the jail) in August 2011. CP 599, 603. Sometime in October, the Sheriff learned that

the as-yet unpublished preliminary County budget would contain additional cuts to the Sheriff's Office (including the jail). The final 2012 budget was not adopted until December 12, 2011. CP 434.

On October 24, 2011, the County met with two jail officers to inform them that they were "on the bubble" for a potential layoff on January 1, 2012. CP 644. That same day, the County sent an email to all jail employees announcing the layoffs and the reasons for them. CP 599, 603. The stated reason for the layoffs was to cut labor costs. CP 332. See CP 603-604.

Beginning the next day, the Guild provided several written demands to bargain the layoff "decision." CP 606, 646, 667, 669. The County took the position that it would bargain over the impacts of the layoff, but not the layoff decision itself. CP 578, 599, 600, 636.

Layoff notices were sent to the two employees on November 28, 2011, and their employment terminated on January 1, 2012, 76 days after they and the Guild were first notified of the potential layoff. CP 600, 638.

B. First Appeal (Kitsap I)

The County filed for declaratory judgment.² The parties brought cross-claims charging each other with unfair labor practices for refusal to bargain in good faith over the decision to layoff two correctional officers.³ The trial court ruled that the decision was not a mandatory subject of bargaining. The Guild appealed.

In the first appeal, Division II held that the Guild did not waive its right to bargain layoffs by contract or by its conduct. *Kitsap* I, 179 Wn. App. at 996. It remanded for the trial court to engage in a multifactor balancing test to determine whether the jail layoffs were predominately related to employees' working conditions, so as to be a mandatory subject of bargaining, or whether the layoffs were predominately related to the County's managerial prerogatives, so as to be a permissible subject of bargaining. *Id.* at 999. The County did not appeal from this decision.

² The County sought concurrent jurisdiction of the Superior Court because the County believed PERC's decisions created uncertainty about whether layoffs must be bargained. *Kitsap* II, at ¶ 10.

³ It is an unfair labor practice to refuse to bargain a mandatory subject or to insist to impasse on a permissive subject. *Kitsap* II, at ¶ 11.

C. Remand and Second Appeal (Kitsap II)

Following remand, PERC intervened.⁴ CP 162. After additional briefing and affidavits,⁵ the superior court again granted summary judgment to the County. Both PERC and the Guild appealed.

Following the second appeal, the case was transferred from Division II to Division I for argument. Division I reversed the trial court and held: (1) that the layoffs to reduce labor costs were a mandatory subject of bargaining (*Kitsap* II, at ¶ 41), and (2) the County's belated attempts to renew its waiver claims during the second appeal were precluded by the law of the case doctrine and unsupported by the record. *Id.* at ¶ 46-47. The court held that the County's refusal to bargain the layoff decision was an unfair labor practice and remanded the case to the trial court for entry of an appropriate remedial order. *Id.* at ¶ 50-52.

The County then filed the present Petition for Review with this Court seeking review of both the Division I decision in *Kitsap* II and the earlier Division II decision in *Kitsap* I.

⁴ PERC did not learn of the case until the Court of Appeals' decision in *Kitsap* I was published.

⁵ PERC argued that the record was inadequate for summary judgment but that the current record and case law suggest that the layoff was undertaken solely to reduce labor cost, a subject appropriate for mandatory bargaining. CP 143, 154-156. PERC further requested that once a determination was made on the mandatory subject of bargaining issue that the court proceed to resolve the underlying unfair labor practice claims and issue an appropriate remedy, consistent with PERC's practice. CP 157-158, 215.

III. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Holding That These Jail Layoffs-Taken to Reduce Labor Costs-Are Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining Does Not Conflict With Established Washington Labor Law

The dispute in this case involved application of established law. There is no conflict with the decisions of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1). First, the *Kitsap* II holding—that layoffs to reduce labor costs, as opposed to changes in the scope or nature of employer operations, are a mandatory subject of bargaining-is consistent with a large body of existing federal and PERC precedent. This approach promotes the purposes of the public employment bargaining law by ensuring that when an employer aims to reduce labor costs, employees are presented with the opportunity to negotiate concessions that reduce overall costs and thus spare jobs. Second, Kitsap II does not conflict with Spokane Educ. Ass'n v. Barnes, 83 Wn.2d 366, 517 P.2d 1362 (1974) and other established Washington case law that a public employer need not negotiate budget size or allocations. As found by the Kitsap II court in applying well settled precedent, the record amply demonstrates the Guild did not demand to bargain the County budget, but rather the specific layoffs proposed by the County to reduce labor costs.

1. The Court of Appeals applied the multifactor balancing test endorsed by the Washington Supreme Court in resolving this case.

The leading Washington case regarding the determination of mandatory bargaining subjects is *Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 113 Wn.2d 197, 203, 778 P.2d 32, 35 (1989), where this Court endorsed "PERC's policy of case-by-case adjudication of scope-of-bargaining issues [which] permits application of the balancing approach most courts and labor boards generally apply to such issues." This is the multi-factor balancing test endorsed by Division II in *Kitsap* I and applied by Division I in *Kitsap* II.

In deciding whether a duty to bargain exists, there are two principal considerations: (1) the extent to which managerial action impacts the wages, hours, or working conditions of employees, and (2) the extent to which the subject lies "at the core of entrepreneurial control" or is a management prerogative. Int'l Ass'n of Fire Fighters, 113 Wn.2d at 203. The inquiry focuses on which characteristic predominates. Id. This Court in Fire Fighters, Local Union 1052 held that "[t]he scope of mandatory bargaining thus is limited to matters of direct concern to

⁶ Mandatory bargaining subjects include "personnel matters, including wages, hours, and working conditions." RCW 41.56.030(4). Permissive bargaining subjects include "[m]anagerial decisions that only remotely affect 'personnel matters,' and decisions that are predominantly 'managerial prerogatives." *Kitsap* I, 179 Wn. App. at 998.

employees" and that "[m]anagerial decisions that only remotely affect 'personnel matters' and decisions that are predominantly 'managerial prerogatives', are classified as nonmandatory subjects." *Id.* at 200.

Stating the test in this binary manner can obscure the nuance in application, however. It is more useful to think of a continuum or spectrum between "personnel matters, including wages, hours and working conditions" and "core... entrepreneurial control[] or... management prerogative." *Id.* Some subjects will clearly fall at one end of the spectrum or the other. Other matters fall in between and must be weighed based upon the specific facts of the case. Where a particular matter does not clearly fall at either end, federal courts and PERC consider a number of factors. The list of relevant factors will vary,

⁷ In its briefing to the Court of Appeals, PERC outlined seven non-exclusive questions or factors used by PERC and the courts to conduct this balancing analysis. These non-exclusive factors are:

a. Would bargaining over this sort of decision advance the process of resolving conflicts between labor and management and advance the purposes of the bargaining law?

b. What are the employer's reasons or motives for the layoff? Was the employer's motivation for the layoff primarily or solely economic?

c. To what extent does the layoff decision involve a fundamental change in the employers' operation or scope of services?

d. What control does the union or the employer have over the cause of the decision?

e. Would bargaining about the matter significantly abridge the employer's freedom to manage the public's business?

f. Does the layoff involve a substantial impact or significant detriment to bargaining unit members (i.e., by changing conditions of employment or significantly impairing reasonably anticipated work opportunities)?

g. Are there general understandings (prior case law or industrial practice) which can inform the legal analysis?

and different factors may predominate as required by the case-by-case analysis of the specific facts.

2. The decision of the Court of Appeals that the County jail layoffs are mandatory subjects of bargaining is consistent with federal case law.

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